FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/23/2024 11:21 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/23/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. _____ Court of Appeals No. 57532-9-II Case #: 1031017

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL TESTER,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
richard@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Michael Tester, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant review of Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. The Court of Appeals issued a partly published opinion on April 9, 2024.

In the published portion of the opinion, the Court held that a recent law requiring trial courts to no longer count most prior juvenile adjudications in sentencings did not apply to offenses committed before its effective date of July 23, 2023.

In the unpublished portion of the opinion, the Court held that the closure of Mr. Tester's trial in *September 2022* did not violate the constitutional right to a public trial because the Superior Court entered an administrative order *in July 2020* that ordered all trials closed due to perceived risks from COVID-19.

Mr. Tester's motion for reconsideration was denied on April 30, 2024.

The opinion and order denying reconsideration are attached in the appendix.

B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- 1. Defendants have a constitutional right to a public trial.

 A closure of the court to the public must be justified based on an individualized analysis resulting in specific findings. Based on a stale order entered several months after the COVID-19 pandemic started, the trial court closed the courtroom during Mr. Tester's trial in September 2022, when the pandemic was at its end. Did the trial court unconstitutionally close Mr. Tester's trial to the public where it did not analyze whether the closure was justified based on an individualized circumstances and did not enter any specific findings?
- 2. A law in effect during Mr. Tester's appeal requires that courts not count most prior juvenile adjudications in an offender score calculation at sentencing. The legislature did so to remedy the injustice of automatically increasing a person's

punishment based on the person's actions as a child. Mr. Tester had several prior juvenile adjudications that were counted in his offender score and increased his punishment. Given the expression of intent, does this law apply to pre-enactment cases, specifically non-final cases on direct appeal?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A complete statement of the case is set out in Mr. Tester's opening brief. Br. of App. at 5-9.

In short, Mr. Tester, a man experiencing homelessness, was prosecuted for staying at what he believed to be abandoned property in the woods. CP 4-5, 53, 69; RP 194, 202.

At the trial for burglary and theft in September 2022, the trial court closed the courtroom to the public because this is how it had been operating during the pandemic, and streamed the trial on YouTube. RP 15, 17, 121. The trial court conducted no individualized analysis and made no findings to justify the closure. RP 15, 20-21.

Following convictions on the charged offense, and based largely on several decades-old juvenile adjudications, the trial court sentenced Mr. Tester to 45 months' of confinement. CP 52, 56-60.

In the unpublished portion of its decision, the Court of Appeals held there was no violation of Mr. Tester's constitutional right to a public trial. Slip op. at 12-13.

In the published portion of the opinion, the Court held the law instructing trial courts to not count most prior juvenile adjudications in offender score calculations at sentencing did not apply to pre-act offenses like Mr. Tester's and only applied to offenses committed on or after July 23, 2023, when the law went into effect.

Mr. Tester moved for reconsideration. Mr. Tester explained that the Court of Appeals had overlooked or misapprehended controlling precedent holding that a individualized assessment with findings is required before a

trial is closed. Less than a week later, the Court summarily denied the motion without calling for an answer from the State.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- 1. Review should be granted to reaffirm that before a trial is closed to the public, the trial court must conduct an individualized analysis and make specific findings to justify the closure. The Court of Appeals' contrary holding departs from clear precedent and should be reversed.
 - a. Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to a public trial.

The state and federal constitutions mandate public trials.

U.S. Const. amends. I, VI; Const. art. I, §§ 10, 22; Waller v.

Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 44-46, 104 S. Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31

(1984); State v. Whitlock, 188 Wn.2d 511, 519-20, 396 P.3d

310 (2017). In criminal trials, this constitutional right is afforded to both the defendant and the public. State v. Fort, 190

Wn. App. 202, 219-24, 360 P.3d 820 (2015). Openness helps ensure the fairness and integrity of the proceedings. Id. at 222-23. "The presence of interested spectators may keep the accused's triers keenly alive to a sense of their responsibility

and to the importance of their functions." *Id.* at 221 (citing *Waller*, 467 U.S. at 46). In essence, "judges, lawyers, witnesses, and jurors will perform their respective functions more responsibly in an open court." *Id.*

Under the state constitution, a criminal proceeding cannot be closed unless the trial court conducts the requisite analysis and concludes that the closure is justified. *Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d at 520-21. The analysis considers five criteria:

- 1. The proponent of closure or sealing must make some showing of a compelling interest, and where that need is based on a right other than an accused's right to a fair trial, the proponent must show a serious and imminent threat to that right.
- 2. Anyone present when the closure motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the closure.
- 3. The proposed method for curtailing open access must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests.
- 4. The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of closure and the public.
- 5. The order must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose.

State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 258-59, 906 P.2d 325 (1995).

b. Without individualized analysis or justification, the trial court barred the public from attending Mr. Tester's trial, violating the constitutional right to a public trial.

Trial began on September 22, 2022. The trial court stated, "We are on the record and streaming." RP 15. The court recounted the courtroom was closed to the public: "We're still under a *Bone-Club* order, just for the record, so public will not be allowed in the courtroom, but we're streaming on YouTube." RP 15. When the prospective jurors entered the courtroom, the court told the jurors, "we have a *Bone-Club* order in effect, which means the courtroom is closed to the public," but explained that a camera in the courtroom was broadcasting on YouTube. RP 20-21.

The trial court's statement about a "Bone-Club order" was referring to an administrative order entered by the Cowlitz Superior Court on July 27, 2020, when the country was largely

closed due to the pandemic. Based on the risk posed by COVID-19, the order purports to justify closing courtrooms to the public and streaming the proceedings live on YouTube instead. Concerning duration, the order promises that it "is in place for the scheduled proceedings and will be reconsidered daily as public health data, directives, and advice are issued."

This promise was not kept. Although the COVID-19 emergency was essentially at an end by the time Mr. Tester's trial began in late September 2022,² no on-the-record analysis

¹ Admin. Ord., No. 2020-003-08, *In re Superior Court Courtroom Proceedings Held in a Virtual Courtroom* (Cowlitz County Super. Ct., Wash. July 27, 2020) (Admin. Ord., No. 2020-003-08) https://www.cowlitzsuperiorcourt.us/all-forms/318-administrative-order-no-2020-003-08/viewdocument/318 [https://perma.cc/5ACA-ZH4U]. This and other COVID-19 related orders from the Cowlitz County Superior Court are collected at https://www.cowlitzsuperiorcourt.us/covid-19

² Two weeks before Mr. Tester's trial began, the governor announced the upcoming rescission of all remaining COVID-19 emergency proclamations and state of emergency by October 31, 2022. *Inslee announces end to remaining COVID-19 emergency orders and state of emergency by October 31* (Sept. 8, 2022),

was conducted by the trial court before it barred the courtroom doors. Indeed, no analysis was conducted. Instead, the trial court relied on a stale order that was over two years old.

A defendant's public trial rights have been violated if (1) the proceeding implicates the public trial right; (2) the proceeding was closed; and (3) the closure was not justified.

Whitlock, 188 Wn.2d at 520.

Here, the proceeding was the entirety of Mr. Tester's trial, including jury selection. This obviously implicates the public trial right. *See State v. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 12 n.4, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012) (well settled that public trial right applies to jury selection).

As for a closure, a closure occurs "when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one

https://governor.wa.gov/news/2022/inslee-announces-end-remaining-covid-19-emergency-orders-and-state-emergency-october-31. The news release touted that Washington had one of the lowest death rates for COVID-19 in the country and that most of the governor's emergency orders had already been lifted. *Id*.

may enter and no one may leave." *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). As the stale order recounts, closing the courtroom doors was a closure even if the proceedings were streamed on the internet. App. 1-3.

Streaming video of a trial on the internet is not equivalent to the physical presence of people in the courtroom. The jury, judge, and counsel were unable to see any viewers of the trial. The "presence of interested spectators" is important to remind the participants of "the importance of their functions." Waller, 467 U.S. at 46.

And the public's view of the trial on the internet was also not equivalent to being in the courtroom. Viewing something on a screen is different than viewing it in person. *See State v. Sweidan*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 53, 67, 461 P.3d 378 (2020) ("Virtual presence created by a television screen falls short of physical presence."). Moreover, the view is limited to the perspective of the camera, which is different. The sound is also different. In fact, the transcript contains many notations of "no audible"

response" or "indiscernible." RP 19, 26-30, 32-39, 63, 68-69, 73, 81, 83, 97, 101-03, 106, 128, 141, 144, 146-47, 174, 207, 210-11, 239-41, 265, 283, 288, 298. So a viewer online would likely experience the same difficulty in hearing what was said.

Consistent with this analysis, courts applying the federal standard have concluded that providing audio or video access to a proceeding over the internet results in a closure. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that streaming only audio was a total court closure. *United States v. Allen*, 34 F.4th 789, 797 (9th Cir. 2022). And other courts have recognized that even streaming both video and audio is at least a partial court closure. *People v. Roper*, No. 21CA0309, 2024 WL 271633, at *3-4 (Colo. App. Jan. 25, 2024); *People v. Bialas*, 535 P.3d 999, 1001 (Colo. App. 2023), *cert. granted*, No. 23SC520, 2024 WL 1144314 (Colo. Mar. 11, 2024); *United States v. Babichenko*, 508 F. Supp. 3d 774, 779 (D. Idaho 2020).

Consequently, even though the trial was streamed online, a court closure occurred under the state and federal constitutions.

Lastly, the closure was not justified. The trial court did not analyze the *Bone-Club* factors. "A closure unaccompanied by a *Bone-Club* analysis on the record will almost never be considered justified." *State v. Smith*, 181 Wn.2d 508, 520, 334 P.3d 1049 (2014). This is not one of the rare cases.

Consequently, the lack of any *Bone-Club* analysis means the closure was not justified. *Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d at 520.

Notwithstanding this straightforward analysis, the Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Tester's argument. The Court of Appeals reasoned there was no public trial violation because the blanket local administrative order closed all courtrooms. Slip op. at 13.

³ Beyond the state constitutional right to a public trial, Mr. Tester's federal constitutional right to a public trial was also violated. Under a federal analysis, the streaming of the trial on video was, at the least, a nontrivial partial closure. Br. of App. at 20.

The Court reasoned that "the Cowlitz County Superior Court order had not been rescinded the time of trial" and that closure was consistent with Supreme Court's 2021 COVID-19 order encouraging courts to use remote proceedings "'whenever appropriate.'" Slip op. at 13 (quoting Fifth Revised & Extended Ord. Regarding Ct. Operations, No. 25700-B-658, at 3, In re Statewide Response by Washington State Courts to the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency (Wash. Feb. 19, 2021) (Fifth Emergency Ord.)).⁴

The Court of Appeals overlooked that "the Supreme Court's opinions uniformly require *an individualized analysis* resulting *in specific findings* in order for court closures to satisfy article I, section 10." *In re Det. of D.F.F.*, 144 Wn. App. 214, 219-20, 183 P.3d 302 (2008) (emphasis added), *affirmed*, 172 Wn.2d 37, 256 P.3d 357 (2011). "[A]utomatic limitations

⁴

https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20 Court%20Orders/25700-B-658.pdf [https://perma.cc/F2PD-LEXX]

on the openness of court proceedings violate article I, section

10 because they are not based on *a case-specific inquiry*." *Id.* at

220 (emphasis added). Here, no case-specific inquiry happened
in Mr. Tester's case.

That there was a blanket local order on closures in existence and an order from this Court encouraging courts to take steps to mitigate the risks posed from COVID-19 does not make the closure of Mr. Tester's trial constitutional. Both the Court of Appeals and this Court in D.F.F. declared unconstitutional a court-promulgated rule closing all mental health court proceedings to the public. In re Det. of D.F.F., 172 Wn.2d 37, 41-42, 256 P.3d 357 (2011); *D.F.F.*, 144 Wn. App. at 217. That the court-rule was in existence and used to justify the closure in D.F.F. did not matter. This is because article I, section 10 requires an individualized inquiry. D.F.F., 172 Wn.2d at 42; Allied Daily Newspapers of Washington v. Eikenberry, 121 Wn.2d 205, 211, 848 P.2d 1258 (1993); D.F.F., 144 Wn. App. at 217-18.

The same flaw identified in *D.F.F.* is present in this case. The administrative order creates *an indefinite* closure without individualized case-specific consideration. Although the order states it would "be reconsidered daily" based on public health data, this was a false promise. There certainly was nothing showing reconsideration by the trial court in Mr. Tester's case. The court simply declared there was a standing *Bone-Club* order, "so public will not be allowed in the courtroom." RP 15. The reality of the waning COVID-19 pandemic and the return to normalcy in September 2022 was not considered.

This sort of indefinite and overbroad court-closure does not square with the public trial right. As the fifth *Bone-Club* factor states, a closure "order must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose." 128 Wn.2d at 259. An indefinite order that closes all courtrooms based a hypothesized risk of COVID-19 spread, regardless of the circumstances or actual risk, is overbroad.

Here, if the trial court had done the case-specific analysis that article I, section 10 demands, it would have concluded that closure of Mr. Tester's trial was not warranted. Beyond the pandemic being essentially at an end in September 2022, it is unlikely members of the public would have packed the courtroom. Mr. Tester's case was not one of broad public interest and would have likely only attracted several family members and friends of Mr. Tester's. And the public could have been required to wear masks.

Mr. Tester did not have an opportunity to object to the administrative order in 2020 because his case did not exist yet. And the public did not have had an opportunity to object since the indefinite closure order was apparently done through a closed administrative procedure. This does not comport with the constitutional right to a public trial. State v. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d 167, 179-80, 137 P.3d 825 (2006); In re Personal Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 806, 100 P.3d 291 (2004).

An individualized and case-specific *Bone-Club* analysis was required before the trial court closed Mr. Tester's trial.

c. Review should be granted because the Court of Appeals' decision departs from clear precedent. Review should also be granted because whether streaming a trial on the internet is a substitute for an open courtroom presents a significant constitutional question and issue of substantial public interest.

As Mr. Tester's analysis proves, the Court of Appeals' holding on the public trial issue departs from clear precedent holding that a court-closure must be justified based on an individualized analysis and specific findings. Due to the conflict with precedent, review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

As for whether streaming a trial on the internet is a substitute for an open-courtroom, a question the Court of Appeals did not address, this is a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

It is also an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Remote proceedings and streaming of courtrooms

online is still a frequent occurrence. Whether this is an adequate substitute for the tried-and-true method of the courtroom being physically open for people is a question this Court should answer. The answer should be a resounding "no," but there appears to be disagreement among jurists on whether broadcasting a courtroom on the internet is a substitute for the public being able to actually attend a court proceeding in person.

2. Review should be granted to decide whether the law eliminating the use of most juvenile adjudications in offender score calculations applies to sentencing on pre-act offenses where the case is not final.

Under the Sentencing Reform Act, the offender score and offense seriousness level determines the standard range sentence. RCW 9.94A.510, 530(1). The offender score is the total sum of points accrued from prior convictions rounded down to the nearest whole number. RCW 9.94A.525.

Mr. Tester has several juvenile adjudications that were counted in his offender score. CP 56. This increased his

punishment by making his offender score a 7 rather than a 3. CP 52, 56-59; *see* RCW 9.94A.525; RCW 9A.52.025.

The legislature passed a law mandating that most prior juvenile felony adjudications do not count in the offender score. Laws of 2023, ch. 415, § 2.⁵ The law took effect on July 23, 2023, while Mr. Tester's case was on direct appeal.

In the published portion of its opinion, the Court of
Appeals held this law does not apply to pre-act offenses or to
sentences that are pending on appeal.

Interpretation of a statute is a legal issue, reviewed de novo. *State v. Jenks*, 197 Wn.2d 708, 713, 487 P.3d 482 (2021).

In ruling that the law did not apply, the Court of Appeals relied on two statutes that generally require that sentences be determined based on the law in effect at the time of the offense. RCW 9.94A.345; RCW 10.01.040; slip op. at 3-5.

https://leg.wa.gov/CodeReviser/documents/sessionlaw/2023pam2.pdf. The exceptions are for first and second degree murder along with class A felony sex offenses.

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the language of the statute did not evince intent to apply to pre-act cases, including non-final cases on direct appeal. Slip op. at 5-8.

A statute need *not* have express language for it to operate at later sentencings or even "retroactively." *Jenks*, 197 Wn.2d at 720; *State v. Ross*, 152 Wn.2d 220, 238, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004); *State v. Rose*, 191 Wn. App. 858, 865-66, 365 P.3d 756 (2015); *Dorsey v. United States*, 567 U.S. 260, 274, 132 S. Ct. 2321, 183 L. Ed. 2d 250 (2012). Laws purporting to create any kind of drafting requirement on the legislature are ineffective because a legislature cannot bind a future legislature from exercising its power. *Washington State Farm Bureau Fed'n v. Gregoire*, 162 Wn.2d 284, 174 P.3d 1142, 1151-52 (2007); *United States v. Winstar Corp.*, 518 U.S. 839, 872-73, 116 S. Ct. 2432, 135 L. Ed. 2d 964 (1996).

As the United States Supreme Court has recognized, whether a statute applies must be analyzed based on its language. *Dorsey*, 567 U.S. at 274-75, 132 S. Ct. 2321, 183 L.

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