FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/24/2024 8:50 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## SUPRME COURT NO. 103101-7 COA No. 57532-9-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

### MICHAEL JOHN TESTER, JR.,

Appellant.

## **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

RYAN JURVAKAINEN Prosecuting Attorney TONY CARLOW/WSBA# 59146 Asst. Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080 Office ID No. 91166

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The Respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Anthony C. Carlow, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan P. Jurvakainen, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly held Tester's right to a public trial was not violated, and that his juvenile sentencing points still applied to his overall score for the purposes of sentencing. The Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny review of *State of Washington v. Michael John Tester, Jr.,* Court of Appeals No. 57532-9-II.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Does the Court of Appeals' decision that Tester's public trial right was not violated depart from clear precedent, or involve a significant question of constitutional law, or raise an issue of substantial public interest?

- (2) Does the Court of Appeals' decision that Tester's juvenile convictions count toward his overall score for sentencing purposes involve an issue of substantial public interest?
- IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

George Knight, along with his brother and sister, owned a little over ten acres of land in the area of 5510 Lewis River Road. RP 133. Knight is the caretaker of the property. RP 133. A cabin, a 28-foot travel trailer that is enclosed by a pole barn, and a storage shed were on the property. RP 133-135. The cabin was a "nice, livable cabin, recreational cabin." RP 133-134. The cabin was a building used for lodging, wherein people slept overnight. RP 152. The property was accessed by a dirt easement and secured by three different types of gates. RP 133-135.

The first gate, which was located about 50 feet from Lewis River Road, was a cable that blocked the easement. RP 135-136. The second gate was a 12-14 foot metal cattle gate. RP 146. The third gate was also a metal gate. RP 146. On May 17, 2022, Knight was traveling on Lewis River Road toward a job site, when he saw that someone had accessed the first gate toward his property. RP 133. Knight was at the cabin two weeks prior and all the gates were standing and secure. RP 150-151.

Knight went to investigate and found the second gate (cattle gate) was busted off its hinges. RP 147. He also found the third gate was down and had been driven over. RP 146. Knight investigated further and found Tester, Tester's girlfriend, and a blue/green Ford Ranger truck on the property. RP 138-139. Tester claimed that he had permission to be there and also claimed he had a receipt that showed he had been paying rent to stay on the property. RP 139. Knight left to get cell phone service to call the police. RP 139. Before leaving, he advised Tester that he better be gone before he returned. RP 138-139.

Once Knight was able to get to an area with cell service, he called the Cowlitz County Sheriff's Office to report the burglary in progress. RP 139. Deputies Clinton Yeager and Craig Murray responded to the location. RP 163. Upon their arrival, they located a green Ford Ranger pulling a trailer while still on Knight's easement as it approached Lewis River Road. RP 164. The vehicle was occupied by Tester and his girlfriend, Karin Davis. RP 165. The occupants were separated and detained. RP 165, 211, 241. Tester volunteered that everything in the trailer belonged to him. RP 166. Deputy Yeager advised Tester of his Miranda warnings, to which Tester stated that he understood them and agreed to speak with the deputies. RP 167.

Knight walked the premises with Deputy Yeager to see if anything was missing. RP 167-168. Knight identified his property that was located either in Tester's truck bed or in Tester's trailer. RP 141. Knight identified two totes, a set of boat oars, a spool of rope, and a vehicle battery located either in the bed of Tester's truck or in the trailer that Tester was pulling. RP 168. Knight testified that the two totes were inside the cabin and were used to store life jackets. RP 148-149. The life jackets were found on the floor of the cabin. RP 149. The rest of the property was taken out of the cabin or the trailer. RP 170.

Initially, Tester told the responding deputies that he was renting the property and had a right to be there. RP 205. Tester changed his story and advised the deputies that he heard from a friend that the property was abandoned because it was so close to the power lines. RP 220. Tester later testified that he lied to the deputies and actually chose to stay on Knight's property because he thought it had been abandoned and foreclosed upon. RP 220.

Tester initially denied taking any of Knight's property. RP 186. He eventually admitted to the deputies that he took two boat oars, two totes, a spool of rope, and a battery. RP 186-189. Tester later testified that his girlfriend, Karin Davis, took Knight's property and loaded it in the truck and trailer. RP 206-208, 223-225.

The State charged Tester with Residential Burglary and Theft in the Third Degree. CP 4-5.

5

A two-day trial commenced on September 21, 2022. RP 15. The court advised that we were "on the record and streaming." RP 15. The courtroom was closed to the public due to the ongoing COVID-19 emergency, as the court announced that a *Bone-Club* order was in effect. RP 15. The court also advised that the proceedings were being broadcasted on YouTube so the general public could watch the proceedings. RP 20-21. On September 22, 2022, the jury found Tester guilty as charged on both counts: Residential Burglary and Theft in the Third Degree. RP 304.

On October 24, 2022, at sentencing, the State announced Tester had an offender score of seven and a standard range of 43-57 months in prison. RP 317. After Tester's attorney advised they would not be contesting the offender score, and after confirming the sentencing range, Tester's attorney asked the court for the bottom of the sentencing range. RP 319-320. The court sentenced Tester to 45 months in prison for Residential Burglary. RP 323.

The court sentenced Tester to 364 days, with 364 days suspended, as to Theft in the Third Degree. RP 323.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Tester's convictions and remanded the case back to the trial court for the sole purpose of striking the \$500 victim penalty assessment from the judgment and sentence. Slip Opinion 18.

V. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE PETITION FAILS TO RAISE GROUNDS UNDER RAP 13.4(B).

Because Tester's petition fails to raise any of the grounds governing review under RAP 13.4(b), it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Tester maintains that by finding the trial court properly closed the courtroom under active Washington Supreme Court and Cowlitz County Superior Court COVID-19 emergency orders, the Court of Appeals' decision departed from clear precedent, involved a significant question of constitutional law, and raised an issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b). Tester also maintains that by finding the trial court properly counted his prior juvenile felony convictions to calculate his offender score, the Court of Appeals' decision departed from clear precedent and raised an issue of substantial public interest. Because Tester fails to raise any of the grounds under RAP 13.4(b), review should not be granted. A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' HOLDING THAT TESTER CANNOT ESTABLISH THAT THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED HIS PUBLIC TRIAL RIGHT DOES NOT DEPART FROM CLEAR PRECEDENT, DOES NOT INVOLVE A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL CONCERN, OR RAISE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST UNDER RAP 13.4(B).

Because Tester failed to establish that the trial court violated his public trial right, the Court of Appeals' decision does not depart from clear precedent, does not involve a significant question of constitutional law, nor does it raise an issue of substantial public interest.

The Court of Appeals found that Tester's trial was broadcast live via YouTube, which was in accordance with Cowlitz County Superior Court Order 2020-003-08 and the Washington Supreme Court Order directing that "courts should follow the most protective public health guidance applicable in their jurisdiction and should continue using remote proceedings for the public health and safety whenever appropriate." The Court of Appeals found that Tester cannot establish that the

standing *Bone-Club* order was stale. Therefore, the Court of Appeals held that Tester cannot establish the trial court violated his public trial right.

"[A] 'closure' of a courtroom occurs when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may leave." *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). The trial court is generally in the best position to perceive and structure its own proceedings. Accordingly, a trial court has broad discretion to make a variety of trial management decisions[.]" *State v. Dye*, 178 Wn.2d 541, 547, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013). Art. I § 22 provides the right to a "speedy public trial," however, that right is not absolute, and a courtroom may be closed when certain criteria are met. *See Bone-Club*, 128 Wn.2d at 258-59. Under *Bone-Club*, courts consider five criteria prior to closing a courtroom:

(1.) The proponent of the closure or sealing must make some showing of a compelling interest;

- (2.) Anyone present when the closure motion is made must be given an opportunity to object to the closure;
- (3.) The proposed method for curtailing open access must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests;
- (4.) The court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of the closure and the public; and
- (5.) The order must be no broader in its application and duration than necessary to serve its purpose.

128 Wn.2d at 258-59.

"Not all arguable courtroom closures require satisfaction of the five factor test established in *State v. Bone-Club*[.]" *State v. Slert*, 181 Wn.2d 598, 604, 334 P.3d 1088 (2014). "While open public trial rights are fixed in the stars in our constitutional firmament, they do not shine alone." Id. at 603. The defendant's rights to a fair and speedy trial, the potential juror's privacy, the judge's obligation to provide safe and orderly courtroom, and many other considerations may justify a courtroom closure." Id. at 604.

of information The fact being mere not contemporaneously known to the public is not a closure when that information is later made available. See State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d 598, 607, 354 P.3d 841 (2015). In Love, the attorneys exercised for cause challenges at the bench and peremptory challenges silently in the courtroom by exchanging a list of jurors between themselves. Id. at 602. However, this did not conceal information from the public, when later "[t]he transcript of the discussion about the for-cause challenges and the struck juror sheet showing the peremptory challenges were both publicly available." Id. at 607.

Art. I § 22 guarantees a speedy public trial. Art. I § 10 requires justice to be administered openly, without unnecessary delay. The application of these rights has become more difficult due to COVID-19, as "[p]rotecting the public from unnecessarily spreading a potentially fatal virus is not only a purpose the government may pursue; it is one it has an obligation to." Stephen E. Smith, the Right to a Public Trial in the Time of

Covid-19, 77 WASH. & LEE L. REV. ONLINE 1, 6 (2020)(emphasis in original).

On February 19, 2021, based on the ongoing COVID-19 public health emergency, the Supreme Court issued an order finding that "many court facilities in Washington are illequipped to effectively comply with social distancing and other public health requirements[.]" Supreme Court Order No. 25700-B-658, at 1 [hereinafter "SC Order"]1. The SC Order stated that "courts should follow the most protective public health guidance applicable in their jurisdiction and should continue using remote proceedings for public health and safety whenever appropriate." SC Order, at 3. The Supreme Court further stated that "[n]othing in this Order limits the authority of courts to adopt measures to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Supreme Court's Fifth Revised Extended Order Regarding Court Operations No.25700-B-658 was issued on February 19, 2021, and is available on the Washington Courts website at: https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20 Court%20Orders/25700-B-658.pdf. This order remained in effect until October 31, 2022, when Order No. 257000-B-697 took effect.

protect health and safety that are more restrictive than this Order[.]" SC Order, at 14. This Order remained in effect during Tester's trial on this matter.

Tester asserts that, without any analysis from the trial court, his trial was closed to the public due to a 'stale' Bone-Club order issued by the Cowlitz County Superior Court on July 27, 2020. Brief of Appellant at 14. This assertion is incorrect. Tester fails to mention that the Cowlitz County Superior Court regularly updated and amended its emergency orders while still under the direction of the SC Order.2 In fact, the Cowlitz County Superior Court followed its original order with at least seven modifications to its original order.

In its original order dated July 27, 2020, the Cowlitz County Superior Court "weighed the importance of open proceedings against the present health risks and has determined

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All Cowlitz County Emergency and Administrative Orders are available at https://www.cowlitzsuperiorcourt.us/allforms/covid

that it is appropriate to defer to the guidance of public health experts during the pandemic. App. 1, at 2-3. The court stated the risk of further spread of COVID-19 outweighs the public's interest to be physically present in an open court at this time." App. 1, at 3. The court also stated that "[N]o less restrictive alternative is available that will sufficiently protect the health of all present." App. 1, at 3. The court found a compelling interest due to the pandemic that required hearings to be conducted by virtual technology to limit public interaction. App. 1, at 2. The court also provided a means for any person objecting to a virtual hearing to voice their objection. App. 1, at 2. On February 10, 2022, in one of Cowlitz County Superior Court's many modifications to its original order, the court again stated that it would review COVID rates and status on a weekly basis. App. 2.

Here, after the courtroom was appropriately closed under *Bone-Club*, the trial was broadcast via live stream on YouTube and therefore, was not a complete and purposeful closure of the courtroom.

Although the unprecedented public health risk justified closure, the court still provided public access to hearings via YouTube. In fact, Tester does not contest, but admits that the trial was streamed online. Brief of Appellant 17. The court's order stated its intention to stream trials live on YouTube. In Tester's trial, no objection to trial proceeding in this manner was ever made by anyone, despite the court having provided a means for doing so.

Because Tester's trial was made available to the public by way of audio and video via YouTube and by way of transcript, his right to a public trial during a public health emergency was not violated.

The trial court was trying to balance the need to protect public trial rights and the health and well-being of the participants during the pandemic. The courtroom had already been closed after the court appropriately applied the *Bone-Club* factors. The court published an order providing notice that anyone who objected was permitted to telephone into the virtual

courtroom and request to be heard in court. App. 2, at 2. The court also found the means provided for the public to observe and listen to virtual court hearings were the least restrictive for protecting the public, parties, and court staff. App. 2, at 2.

Under these circumstances a complete and purposeful closure of the courtroom did not occur. The trial court was acting under a Washington Supreme Court Order and a Cowlitz County Superior Court Order, both of which were still active and, therefore, not stale. Thus, the Court of Appeals decision does not depart from clear precedent, does not involve a significant question of constitutional law, nor does it raise an issue of substantial public interest significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4. Therefore, this Court should deny Tester's petition for review as to the public trial issue.

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